
SOCIAL HISTORY 
 
Social Structure 
 
There was a resident lord in the 13th and early 14th century, but the Berlay family had left 
the township by the time of the Black Death.1 Fifty-five households were assessed for the poll 
tax in 1379, but only one – Robert Basy, draper, 6d. – paid more than 4d.2 
 
After acquiring the manor in 1519-20, the Twisleton family removed to Barlow and soon 
held most of the land. They were described as esquires until 1629 when George Twisleton 
became a baronet. His widow, Catherine, and her new husband, Henry Cholmley, who was 
knighted in 1641, resided here as manorial lords until the 1650s or 60s. Thereafter, several 
‘gentlemen’ were recorded here, including George Shillitoe (d. 1658) and John Tomlinson (d. 
1701).3 
 
The hearth tax return of 1672 shows that Barlow had a very broad social base. 4 Of the 39 
households recorded, over two-thirds had only one hearth. The highest assessment, by far, 
was Mrs. Constance Sawer’s 17 hearths, presumably at Barlow Hall. Her husband, Thomas, 
was a yeoman who had died in 1671 possessing £835 in movable goods, including 56 cattle, 
10 oxen, 24 horses and 53 sheep.5 Below the Sawers were two householders, George 
Remington (five hearths) and Robert Todd (four hearths). The latter died just months after the 
assessment with £305 in goods, including 28 cattle, 8 oxen, and 50 sheep, but apparently no 
horses.6 Then came seven householders with two hearths – such as the blacksmith Richard 
Ibbotson, who died in 1673 with an inventory of £39.7 Beneath these were the vast majority 
of Barlow’s households, 27 in all, who had only one hearth. This group included Roger 
Sander, Edward Willowby, and William Watson, husbandman, who died later in the decade 
each possessing £24 to £120 in goods, including 9 to 14 cattle.8 Finally, two households, 
about which nothing is known, were ‘Omitted by reason of poverty’. 
 
A rough cross-section of householders at the end of the 17th century is provided by the parish 
register, which recorded occupations from August 1698 to March 1703.9 There were 32 
records of occupations for Barlow during these years, namely one gentleman, one yeoman, 
one bachelor, six farmers, five husbandmen, fourteen day labourers, one tailor, one 
cordwainer, one shoemaker, one sackweaver, and one ‘pooreman’. 
 
In the 1780s, two sources provide rather contradictory evidence about Barlow’s social 
structure. According to the land tax assessment of 1782, there were perhaps fifteen properties 
occupied by farmers and only five households in cottages (see above, Table 3).10 However, 
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the occupations of fathers recorded in the parish register from 1778 to 1789 suggest a much 
higher proportion of labourers or cottagers. In addition to millers and a cordwainer, it 
recorded 21 farmers and 51 labourers, suggesting a ratio of approximately 2.4 labourers to 
every farmer over this period.11  
 
From the late 18th century to early 20th century, Barlow had roughly four social groups. A 
very small group of proprietors – headed the Thompsons, who had inherited the manor from 
the Twisletons – stood at the top of the social scale, though they were almost always non-
resident. Below them were the tenant-farmers, consistently numbering around 15 or 16, 
perhaps half of whom occupied farms over one hundred acres. The more substantial farmers 
employed agricultural labourers and farm servants – usually only a few each, but almost 
twenty in the case of the Stables brothers of Barlow Hall in 1841.12 The third group consisted 
of a handful craftsmen and small traders who were probably approximately equal in status to 
the smallest tenant-farmers. The lowest and most numerous group were the agricultural 
workers. Their numbers seem to have increased over the course of this period, so that there 
were over fifty by the middle of 19th century. In addition, there were several paupers in the 
village. Five adults and five children were recorded as permanent recipients of poor relief in 
1802-03.13 
 
The number of farmers remained stable until the late 20th century, but employment situation 
varied somewhat. Around half of the farmers were employers in 1831, but this increased to 
two-thirds by 1851 and this proportion was the same in 1941.14 During this period, the 
number of agricultural workers per farmer in Barlow ranged from a high of nearly 3.7 in 
1841, to a low of 2.6 in 1901.15 In the post-war years it dropped still further, reaching 1.6 
workers per farmer by 1963.16 In addition, the selling off of the Londesbrough estate in the 
1910s resulted in the multiplication of landowners, some of whom were owner-occupiers.17 
 
 
Community Activities 
 
Few records of village sociability survive before the 20th century. In the 1720s, John Arnold 
of Bracken House and William Tomlinson each had a ‘drinkhouse’, which presumably 
provided a place for locals to gather in their leisure time, and there was an alehouse here later 
in the century.18 By the early 19th century there was an inn and a public house, although the 
former had disappeared by 1890 and the latter by 1972.19 
 
In the mid-19th century, the field to the west of Barlow Hall was known as ‘Foot Ball Close’, 
suggesting that matches were probably played there.20 At around the same time, much of the 
Common had been converted into a training course for horses, though this was not recorded 
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on the detailed map of 1890.21 In the 1920s, Barlow had a ‘fairly successful racehorse trainer’ 
named Hewitt Henry Golightly.22 
 
In 2010, the village included a recently-refurbished community centre at the end of Park 
Lane: ‘It incorporates a fully licensed members club which is managed by a committee of 
members who are village residents, a village hall and a large playing field.’ In addition, the 
parish council had a smaller second playing field nearby.23 
 
 
Education 
 
There is no evidence of educational provision outside before the 19th century, though the 
township’s children may have received some instruction at Brayton Church or, later, Barlow 
Chapel. There were bibles and other books recorded in probate records from the 1650s 
onwards.24 
 
A schoolmistress, S. Massey, taught here in 1838.25 By 1841, Luke Fletcher had become 
schoolmaster and continued in this role for at least a decade, teaching at the ‘School House & 
Garden’ that was situated at White House farm in 1847.26 In addition, there was a Sunday 
School during this period. On 30 March 1851, there were 32 Sunday scholars and, in 1865, 
the vicar of Brayton reported that 35 to 40 children attended most weeks.27 
 
In the 1850s, the schoolhouse at White House Farm was replaced by ‘an excellent day-
school’, built at the juncture of Barlow Common Road and Mill Lane.28 In 1872, it was 
described as ‘Col. G. H. Thompson’s School’, teaching 62 boys and girls, and a plan from 
that decade shows it as a single room (9.2m x 5.0m) with six long benches.29 In 1893, George 
Millership, the master, reportedly taught only 30 children on average.30 The school received a 
poor evaluation after an inspection in 1918, but had evidently improved by 1922 and the 
inspectors consistently gave it positive evolutions thereafter.31 In 1935, for example, the 
quality of teaching was ‘remarkably good’ despite ‘difficult & crampt conditions’.32 
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The school became Barlow Primary in 1946, when it was ‘reorganised for Junior Mixed and 
Infant children’ and ‘senior scholars’ transferred to schools in Selby.33 By the early 1960s, 
there were only 26 children taught here, ten of whom were associated with the Ordnance 
Depot or the nearby War Department Police Quarters.34 Shortly thereafter, in 1967, the 
school was moved to a new, larger site on the main street, next to the Methodist Chapel.35 
Since then the number of pupils has increased dramatically. Most recently, in 2010, this 
Church of England Primary School had 57 children.36 
 
 
Charities 
 
In the medieval and early modern period, nearly all private charity here must have been 
informal and occasional. There are, however, two examples of the lords of the manor 
bequeathing substantial sums to be disbursed at their deaths: Christopher Twisleton gave £10 
‘to the poor people of Barley and the rest of the poor people of the parish of Braiton’ in 1623, 
and Sir George Twisleton gave £20 ‘to the poore of the parish of Barley’ in 1635. 37 
 
The first evidence of an endowed charity comes in 1641, when Robert Walker gave the 
profits of 27a. of land in Burn to be distributed to the poor of the whole parish of Brayton, so 
that in 1896 there was £10 7s. distributed at Christmas to 17 poor people in Barlow as well as 
roughly equal amount to the poor in the five other townships.38 
 
At her death in 1672, Catherine Cholmley, widow of Sir George, created a trust which was to 
pay 40s. ‘to the poor of the Towne of Barley’ at Christmas.39 In 1816, this was described as a 
£2 rent-charge vested in the overseer.40 By 1829, it was considered ‘lost’, but later in the 
century Robert Crosthwaite, then vicar of Brayton, identified the land and induced the owner 
to resume payment. Hence, in 1896, the vicar customarily ‘hands the money to his curate, 
who, in consultation with the church-warden and the principal inhabitants of Barlow, selects 
11 poor householders, to whom he gives 4s. each at Christmas. None of these persons are in 
receipt of Poor Law relief.’41 
 
By 1716, the lords of the manor had built Barlow Chapel and provided £10 per year for a 
preacher, increasing the salary to £30 by 1764.42 
 
In the 19th century, a benefaction board in Brayton Church reported that Mary Pockley gave 
£100 or £150, out of which poor widows in Brayton and Barlow were to be provided with ‘a 
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new black gown for Christmas Day’, but the sum was lost – reputedly after being ‘invested in 
shipping which was lost at sea’ – many years previously.43 
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